
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 13th June, 2017

Place
Committee Rooms - Council House

Public business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 16)

(a) To agree the minutes from the meeting of Cabinet on 11th April 2017.

(b) Matters arising

4. Exclusion of Press And Public  

To consider whether to exclude the press and public for the item(s) of private 
business for the reasons shown in the report.

5. Revenue and Capital Outturn 2016/17  (Pages 17 - 46)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

6. Unit 1 Dutton Road, Aldermans Green Industrial Estate, Coventry - 
Investment Acquisition  (Pages 47 - 54)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

7. Outstanding Issues  (Pages 55 - 58)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

8. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Public Document Pack



Page 2

Private business

9. Unit 1 Dutton Road, Aldermans Green Industrial Estate, Coventry - 
Investment Acquisition  (Pages 59 - 66)

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

(Listing Officer: P Beesley, tel: 024 7683 1377)

10. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.  

Martin Yardley, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Council House Coventry

Monday, 5 June 2017

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lara 
Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7683 3237 / 3065, Email: 
lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk

Membership: 

Cabinet Members:- Councillors F Abbott, L Bigham, K Caan, G Duggins (Chair), 
J Innes, A Khan (Deputy Chair), K Maton, J Mutton, J O'Boyle, E Ruane, 

Non-voting Deputy Cabinet Members:- Councillors P Akhtar, R Ali, B Kaur, R Lakha, 
C Thomas, and D Welsh

By invitation:- Non-voting Opposition representatives:- Councillors A Andrews and 
G Ridley

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Lara Knight / Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, 
Tel: 024 7683 3237 / 3065, Email: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk / 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 11 April 2017

Present:
Members: Councillor G Duggins (Chair)

Councillor L Bigham
Councillor F Abbott
Councillor K Caan
Councillor J Innes
Councillor A Khan
Councillor K Maton
Councillor J Mutton
Councillor J O'Boyle
Councillor E Ruane

Non-Voting Opposition 
Members:

Councillor J Blundell
Councillor G Crookes

Non-Voting Deputy 
Cabinet Members:

Councillor R Ali
Councillor P Akhtar
Councillor R Lakha
Councillor P Seaman
Councillor C Thomas  

Non-Voting Scrutiny 
Chairs:

Councillor L Kelly
Councillor R Lancaster
Councillor J McNicholas
Councillor M Mutton

Employees (by Directorate):
People G Quinton, Deputy Chief Executive (People), L Gaulton, 

S Giles, J Gregg, A Kirby,

Place M Yardley, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), B Hastie, 
H Lynch, R Moon, M Salmon, A Walimia

Apologies: Councillor D Welsh 

Public Business

133. Declarations of Interest 

Councillors Abbott, Lakha and McNicolas declared Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
in the matters referred to in minutes 141 and 148 below, headed ‘Culture Coventry 
Trust – Financial Performance and Support’. They withdrew from the meeting for 
consideration of these matters.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

134. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7th March 2017 were agreed and signed as a 
true record. There were no matters arising.

135. Exclusion of Press And Public 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet agrees to exclude the press and public under 
Sections 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 relating to the 
following private reports on the grounds that the reports involve the likely 
disclosure of information defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, 
as they contain information relating to the financial affairs of a particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) and in all 
circumstances of the cases, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.:

Minute No. Report title

144 Modernising Public Health Children’s and Lifestyles 
Services’

145 Children’s External Residential Services

146 Request to Enter into Walyleave Agreement with Western 
Power Distribution to Supply Jaguar Land Rover

147 Council Acting as Charitable Trustees for War Memorial 
Park

148 Culture Coventry Trust – Financial Performance and Support 
Arrangements

136. Procurement for Term Contracts Project Management and Property Services 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that sought 
approval of a procurement process to set up a set of multi-supplier Term Contracts 
for 4 years for the provision of property maintenance, repairs and improvements.

Coventry City Council’s Compliance and Surveying Team provided a property 
management service for Council buildings and schools as well as a number of 
external clients. The works mainly included repairs and maintenance with some 
property improvements and were undertaken on either a planned or reactive basis 
depending on the work required. The provision of these works had been via Term 
Contracts for a number of years.

As the existing Term Contracts were coming to an end, in order to deliver these 
works it was proposed to undertake a restricted tender process to set up a multi-
lot, multi-supplier (between 2 and 4 suppliers per lot) Term Contract for a period of 
4 years. A Term Contract was an agreement whereby there was no guarantee of 
work. However, should there be a requirement for such work the term contractor 
would be approached. The first placed supplier on each lot would be offered the 

Page 4



– 3 –

work and the others would be approached if the first place was unable to 
undertake the work.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Authorises a procurement process to set up a set of multi-supplier term 
contracts for 4 years for the provision of property maintenance, repairs 
and improvements.

2. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), following 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for City Services, to agree the 
award of contract(s) following a restricted tender process. 

3. Authorises the City Council to enter into Contract(s) with the 
successful suppliers for the 4 years.

137. Modernising Public Health Children's and Lifestyles Services 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), that was 
also considered by the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) at their meeting 
on 5th April 2017 (their minute 55 referred), that sought approval to commission a 
family health and lifestyle service and an integrated adult lifestyle service and to 
authorise the commencement of procurement processes.

Coventry City Council commissioned a range of services that aimed to prevent 
poor health by improving childhood health and supporting behaviour change 
among at risk groups. The integration of these individual services would provide:

1. A Family Health and Lifestyle Service: supporting children, young people and 
their families. This service would include Health Visiting and School Nursing 
and would be an integral element of the developing family hub model. The 
service would systematically reduce health inequalities including supporting 
the reduction of childhood obesity, families to be more physically active, 
improving childhood development and readiness for school and reducing 
infant mortality. 

2. An Integrated Adult Lifestyles Service: supporting adults at greatest risk of 
poor health including those who displayed multiple lifestyle behaviours like 
obesity, low levels of physical activity and poor diet and smoking, as well as 
other at risk groups like people with mental health conditions.

The proposal to integrate the services was based on what local Coventry people 
wanted from the services, following consultation with the general public, service 
users and wider stakeholders and the latest evidence about what works to improve 
quality and outcomes. 

In order to properly develop an integrated approach for the Family Health and 
Lifestyle Service a significant amount of re-design was required. It was therefore 
recommended that the contract would run for five years, with two 24 month 
extensions available. It was also proposed that the service was procured via a 
competitive tender with dialogue (an approach where tenderers worked in 
partnership with the contracting authority to develop a suitable solution to the 

Page 5



– 4 –

service specification and requirement – at the point where the contracting authority 
was confident that one or more of the solutions presented were sufficiently 
developed to meets its needs and requirement, tenderers were then invited to 
submit competitive bids). This procurement approach was innovative and, while it 
was planned for the proposed contract to be operational during Summer 2018, 
permission was being sought to extend existing contracts for up to 6 months until 
30 September 2018 to allow for robust process.

The proposed contract for the Integrated Adult Lifestyle Service would be 
operational by 1 April 2018 and would be procured through a standard competitive 
tender. The contract would run for five years, with two 24 month extensions 
available.

The Cabinet noted a Briefing Note of the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board 
(5), circulated at the meeting, on the outcome of their consideration of the report at 
their meeting on 3rd March 2017. The Board decided to endorse the 
recommendations in the report and made no further recommendations for Cabinet.  

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Notes that the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) endorses the 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

2. Approves the proposal to extend current contracts which will be 
integrated into the new family health and lifestyle service for up to six 
months. 

3. Approves the proposal to commission a family health and lifestyle 
service and authorises the commencement of a procurement process 
via a competitive process with dialogue in line with the proposed model 
and timescale.

4. Delegates authority to the Director of Public Health and the Section 151 
Officer following the procurement process to award to the successful 
bidder and implement the contract for a family health and lifestyle 
service.

5. Approves the proposal to commission an integrated adult lifestyle 
service and authorise the commencement of a tender process to 
procure in line with the proposed model and timescale.

6. Delegates authority to the Director of Public Health and the Section 151 
Officer following the procurement process to award to the successful 
bidder and implement the contract for an integrated adult lifestyle 
service.

Page 6



– 5 –

138. Children's External Residential Services 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) on 
proposals for children’s external residential services. The report sought approval 
for the commissioning of 25 external residential children’s home beds by way of 
establishing a Dynamic Purchasing System.

The Local Authority had a duty under the Children Act 1989 to ensure that it had 
sufficient good quality placements to meet the needs of its looked after children.  
These should be within the Local Authority’s area, providing this was in the best 
interests of the child.

The Council had set out how it would fulfil its ‘sufficiency duty’ in accordance with 
section 22G of the 1989 Children Act in its Placements Sufficiency Strategy 
2016/17, and further expand on the vision for children’s Services, and how this 
linked strategically to other improvement activity, in the Children’s Transformation 
Strategy.

Central to the vision was the knowledge that children grew up most successfully in 
a family environment, and therefore the cornerstone of the Placements Sufficiency 
Strategy was to increase the number of children who were placed with internal 
foster carers. Ambitious targets had been set for the City Council Fostering 
Service, and there had been an increase in children placed with internal foster 
carers from 149 in April 2016 to 180 in February 2017.

However, residential care would remain a positive option for some children and 
young people – in particular for those who were older when they entered care, or 
would not thrive in and/or did not want a family setting to replace their own.  On 
average, Coventry placed around 13% of it’s looked after children in residential 
provision. The aim was to reduce this to 10%, equating to approximately 60 
children, in line with the national average

Coventry currently used a range of residential children’s home provision, including 
internal provision delivered by the City Council and externally commissioned 
provision delivered by private providers. This included a block contract with 
Hexagon Care, for 17 residential beds within the city catering predominantly for 
children with emotional and behavioural difficulties, that would expire in October 
2017.

The proposal outlined was to re-commission a block contract for 25 beds in 4 – 5 
bedded homes, within or close to the City boundary. This new provision would not 
be instantly recognisable as children’s homes, they would be more easily identified 
as homes for children with an aim to create something more akin to normal family 
life. The intention was to award contracts to a number of providers so there was a 
more diverse market of providers and provision in the city. The length of the 
contract would be 3 years, plus a possible extension of up to 2 years. 

Overall, a total of 41 beds would be available in the city; 25 through the new block 
contract and 16 through the reconfiguration of the internal residential service 
approved at by the Cabinet at their meeting on 7th March 2017 (minute 121/16 
referred). Needs analysis had shown that there were approximately 20 children 
who would require specialist out of city provision to meet their needs, and these 

Page 7



– 6 –

beds would be spot purchased or procured through the regional residential 
framework.

This proposal, and the reconfiguration of internal provision together represented 
the direction of travel for Coventry in relation to increasing local placement 
provision, and contributed towards a target reduction in expenditure across this 
area.  Further work would continue to be undertaken on the optimum mix of 
internal and external provision of children’s residential care, taking into account the 
Council’s aspiration to provide quality, cost effective local provision, based on an 
approach that maximised placement choice for children and is predicated on a 
mixed economy of care provision. This work would need to take into account the 
effectiveness of the new operating model for internal residential provision, as 
recent analysis had shown that the actual operating cost of the Council’s internal 
provision had not been cost effective. To ensure that there were clear, evidence-
based recommendations about the balance of internal and external provision after 
the end of this contract, a commissioning review would be undertaken 24 months 
after delivery of the external provision had commenced in February 2020. This 
would examine the effectiveness of both the internal and external residential 
provision and make proposals regarding the mix of residential care. Prior to that, 
contracts would be robustly monitored through regular contract monitoring 
meetings and visits to providers, and the Director of Children’s Services would 
provide regular informal reports to the Lead Member for Children.

All the projects contributing to placement sufficiency were being delivered through 
the Children’s Transformation Board, which met monthly, which enabled risks and 
interdependencies to be identified and managed at a strategic level.  
 
The outcomes of the project would be:

• An increase of local provision;
• The ability to more effectively wrap multi-agency support services 

around children;
• A tighter and closer network of residential care provision in and around 

Coventry, which could operate alongside a newly configured internal 
residential service;

• All homes would be required to work in partnership, including monthly 
managers meetings, to maintain partnerships and encourage long-term 
planning; 

• Use of expensive emergency residential provision via spot purchase 
would be minimised. 

Coventry would commission the service through a Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS) to bring a variety of providers into the city. The DPS was a two-stage 
process which allowed the flexibility to procure at the most appropriate times. In 
the initial set up stage all providers who met the selection criteria were admitted 
onto the DPS. In the second stage the Authority procured the beds over a period 
of time when required to avoid empty beds and over-commissioning. This reduced 
the risks of a standard block contract where all the beds were procured together 
as part of one tendering process. Providers could apply to join the DPS at any 
point during the lifetime of the contract allowing new entrants to the market. The 
DPS would be advertised in April 2017.

Page 8



– 7 –

The cost of the 25 placements would be met from the existing children’s 
placements budgets and there was allowance for this within the Children’s 
Transformation Strategy.

Savings realised in the residential placements budgets would collectively come 
from:

• A reduction in the residential cohort to 60 placements on average.
• A lower average unit cost for residential placements, as a result of less 

spot contracts.
• A lower average unit cost for fostering, as a result of an increase in the 

use of internal provision and a decrease in the use of external provision. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet approves the commissioning of 25 external 
residential children’s home beds by way of establishing a Dynamic 
Purchasing System.

139. Request to enter into Wayleave Agreement with Western Power Distribution 
to Supply Jaguar Land Rover 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive that sought 
approval to enter into Wayleave agreements with Western Power Distribution 
(WPD) for the laying of cables through Council owned land.

The Council had received a request to enter into various Wayleave agreements 
with WPD to allow them to lay new cables to facilitate an enhanced power supply 
to Jaguar Land Rover’s plant at Whitley. Having considered all the options that 
were made available, the conclusion reached would result in new cables being 
required to ensure a continued and enhanced power supply for Jaguar Land 
Rover. 

The proposed route crossed various areas of Council owned land that did not form 
part of the adopted public highway and included parts of War Memorial Park, 
Hearsall Common, Stivichall Croft woodland common and open space, Leaf Lane 
open space, and allotment sites at Beechwood Avenue and Highland Road 
Coventry. Appendices to the report provided sectional plans of the proposed cable 
route, a site plan of the proposed cable route, and a site Plan of the Wayleaves 
required.

Members had received assurance that inconvenience to road users would be 
minimised as much as possible and that any events scheduled to be held in parks 
and on open space land along the cable route would not be affected by the 
proposals. Members acknowledged that the proposals were an indication of a 
secured future for Jaguar Land Rover in the City. They further acknowledged the 
possible benefit that the enhanced power supply could achieve in attracting other 
companies and organisations to the City, together with the employment 
opportunities they would bring.
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Approves the request to enter into Wayleave agreements with Western 
Power Distribution for the laying of cables through Council owned land 

Page 9



– 8 –

(except the War Memorial Park which is the subject of a separate report, 
see minute 140 and 144 below).   

2. Delegates Authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and Director 
of Finance and Corporate Services to negotiate the terms of any 
agreement with Western Power Distribution (including the 
consideration as well as any compensation payments, for the 
disruption caused), undertake due diligence and complete the 
necessary legal documentation.

140. Cabinet Acting as Charitable Trustees for War Memorial Park 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that sought 
the agreement of the Cabinet, sitting as the Charitable Trustees, to grant a 
wayleave agreement which allowed Western Power Distribution to lay and retain 
new power cables on a route which crossed through part of the War Memorial 
Park.

By virtue of a conveyance dated 27th January 1921, The War Memorial Park was 
held on trust by the Council and therefore any decisions relating to it must be 
made on the basis of and acting in the capacity as sole charitable trustee and what 
was in the best interests of the charity alone.

Where a local authority was trustee of an asset held on charitable trust, it was 
essential to ensure that the asset was held and applied in accordance with the 
particular charitable purpose to which it was conveyed to the Local Authority. 

Where the Local Authority was the sole trustee, it was the corporate body 
(“authority itself”) which was the trustee and as such guidance from the Charity 
Commission stated that responsibility for decision-making and oversight rested 
with the Councillors. In exercising the obligation as charity trustee, the decision 
takers must ensure that their decisions were only taken on the basis on what was 
in the interest of the charity and not that what was in the best interest of the of the 
Local Authority.

A request had been received from Western Power Distribution to allow them to lay 
and retain new power cables on a route through part of the park (as shown on the 
plan attached as Appendix A to the report) and enter into a wayleave agreement to 
allow this.  

Members had received assurance that any events being held in the parks and on 
open space land on the cable route, including the Godiva Festival at the War 
Memorial Park in July 2017, would not be affected by the proposals.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet: 

1. In its role as charitable trustee of the War Memorial Park, agrees in 
principle to the entering into an agreement with Western Power 
Distribution for the laying and retention of cables through the park and 
any other land held on Trust by the Council through which the cable 
will run subject to:

Page 10



– 9 –

• An independent Charities Act report recommending that the 
intended easement between the Charitable Trust and Western 
Power Distribution represents best value to the charity.  

2. Delegates authority be granted to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 
and the Council’s Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Jobs and Regeneration, Cabinet Member for City Services 
and Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport, to negotiate the 
detailed terms of agreement with Western Power Distribution which 
shall include undertaking the appropriate due diligence and completion 
of the necessary legal documentation.

141. Culture Coventry Trust - Financial Performance and Support arrangements 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that sought 
the approval of financial support to the Culture Coventry Trust to enable it to 
establish a robust Medium Term Business Plan.

The UK’s cultural sector had seen a reported reduction in budgets by over £1bn 
since 2010. This reduction had created significant pressures within the sector, with 
the reported closure of over 45 museums across this period. Nationally, cultural 
organisations were actively increasing their commercial activities whilst reviewing 
and restructuring their medium term financial strategies, in order to meet these 
ongoing challenges.      

Culture Coventry Trust (The Trust) contacted the Council in November 2016 
seeking financial assistance regarding its forecast deficit financial positions for 
2016/2017 and 2017/2018 onwards. Financial pressures over the last 2-3 years – 
including through the period of extension and development of the Coventry 
Transport Museum and restoration of the Old Grammar School – meant that the 
Trust was required to utilise its cash reserves and therefore now needed 
assistance whilst it established and implemented its plans for the future.

The Trust was seeking to establish a robust Medium Term Business Plan, but in 
order to do that, it currently required financial support from the City Council in the 
form of cash flow loans and deferral of the repayment of other monies owed.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Approves the deferral of monies owed by the Culture Coventry Trust to 
the City Council in respect of the Transport Museum extension project, 
until April 2018.

2. Endorses the cost reduction measures proposed by the Culture 
Coventry Trust, subject to on-going monitoring by City Council 
Officers.

3. Approves the funding by the City Council of the one off redundancy 
costs of the Culture Coventry Trust’s management restructure through 
the provision of additional one-off grant funding.

Page 11



– 10 –

4. Approves in principle (subject to scrutiny by Council Officers) the 
provision of a loan(s) from the City Council to the Culture Coventry 
Trust to be repaid at a commercial rate for the following:

a. to enable the Culture Coventry Trust to pay their next three years 
West Midlands Pension Fund contribution in advance;

b. for drawdown during 2017/18 financial year to enable the Culture 
Coventry Trust undertake cost reduction and income generation 
initiatives to achieve a sustainable financial position.

5. Subject to approval of recommendation (4) above, approves, as 
required, the issue of a letter of comfort to the Culture Coventry Trust 
confirming that the City Council will provide financial assistance during 
2017/2018 to enable it to carry out its cost reduction and income 
generation initiatives to achieve a sustainable financial position.

6. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer to undertake the financial due diligence, 
negotiate and finalise the detailed terms of the loan arrangement and if 
satisfied as to their terms (and such other matters as deemed relevant) 
effect the completion of the appropriate loan agreement.

142. Outstanding Issues 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that 
contained the list of outstanding issues and summarised the current position in 
respect of each item.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet approves the dates for future consideration of 
matters relating to the outstanding issues items listed in the report.

143. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of public business.

144. Modernising Public Health Children's and Lifestyles Services 

Further to Minute 137 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the 
Deputy Chief Executive (People), that was also considered by the Health and 
Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) at their meeting on 5th April 2017 (their minute 58 
referred), that set out confidential aspects of proposals for modernising public 
health children’s and lifestyles services and an integrated adult lifestyle service 
and to authorise the commencement of procurement processes. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Notes that the Health and Social Care Scrutiny Board (5) endorses the 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

Page 12



– 11 –

2. Approves the proposal to extend current contracts which will be 
integrated into the new family health and lifestyle service for up to six 
months. 

3. Approves the proposal to commission a family health and lifestyle 
service and authorises the commencement of a procurement process 
via a competitive process with dialogue in line with the proposed model 
and timescale.

4. Delegates authority to the Director of Public Health and the Section 151 
Officer following the procurement process to award to the successful 
bidder and implement the contract for a family health and lifestyle 
service.

5. Approves the proposal to commission an integrated adult lifestyle 
service and authorise the commencement of a tender process to 
procure in line with the proposed model and timescale.

6. Delegates authority to the Director of Public Health and the Section 151 
Officer following the procurement process to award to the successful 
bidder and implement the contract for an integrated adult lifestyle 
service.

145. Children's External Residential Services 

Further to Minute 138 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the 
Deputy Chief Executive (People) that set out confidential aspects of proposals for 
children’s external residential services. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet approves the commissioning of 25 external 
residential children’s home beds by way of establishing a Dynamic 
Purchasing System.

146. Request to enter into Wayleave Agreement with Western Power Distribution 
to Supply Jaguar Land Rover 

Further to Minute 139 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the 
Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that set out confidential aspects of proposals to 
enter into a wayleave agreement with Western Power Distribution (WPD) to supply 
Jaguar Land Rover. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Approves the request to enter into Wayleave agreements with WPD for 
the laying of cables through Council owned land (except the War 
Memorial Park which is the subject of a separate report, see minutes 
140 and 144 above).   

2. Delegates Authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and Director 
of Finance and Corporate Services to negotiate the terms of any 
agreement with WPD (including the consideration as well as any 

Page 13



– 12 –

compensation payments, for the disruption caused), undertake due 
diligence and complete the necessary legal documentation.

147. Cabinet Acting as Charitable Trustees for War Memorial Park 

Further to Minute 140 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the 
Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that set out confidential aspects of proposals to 
grant a wayleave agreement which allowed Western Power Distribution to lay and 
retain new power cables on a route which crossed through part of the War 
Memorial Park.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. In its role as charitable trustee of the War Memorial Park, agrees in 
principle to the entering into an agreement with Western Power 
Distribution for the laying and retention of cables through the park and 
any other land held on Trust by the Council through which the cable 
will run subject to:

• An independent Charities Act report recommending that the 
intended wayleave between the Charitable Trust and Western 
Power Distribution represents best value to the charity.  

• For a consideration amount as indicated in the report.   

2. Delegated Authority be granted to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) 
and the Council’s Section 151 Officer in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Jobs and Regeneration, Cabinet Member for City Services 
and Cabinet Member for Public Health and Sport, to negotiate the 
detailed terms of agreement with Western Power Distribution which 
shall include undertaking the appropriate due diligence and completion 
of the necessary legal documentation.

148. Culture Coventry Trust - Financial Performance and Support arrangements 

Further to Minute 141 above, the Cabinet considered a private report of the 
Deputy Chief Executive (Place) that set out confidential aspects of proposals for 
the City Council to provide financial support to the Culture Coventry Trust to 
enable it to establish a robust Medium Term Business Plan.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet:

1. Approves the deferral of the existing monies, to the sum indicated 
within the report, owed by the Culture Coventry Trust to the City 
Council in respect of the Transport Museum extension project, until 
April 2018.

2. Endorses the cost reduction measures proposed by the Culture 
Coventry Trust, subject to on-going monitoring by City Council 
Officers. 

Page 14



– 13 –

3. Approves the funding by the Council of the one off redundancy costs of 
the Culture Coventry Trust’s management restructure up to the value 
indicated in the report through the provision of additional one-off grant 
funding.

4. Approves in principle (subject to scrutiny by Council Officers) the 
provision of a loan(s) up to the sum indicated in the report from the 
Council to the Culture Coventry Trust to be repaid at a commercial rate 
for the following:

• To enable the Culture Coventry Trust to pay their next three years 
West Midlands Pension Fund contribution in advance, up to the 
sum indicated in the report.

• Up to the sum indicated in the report to be made available for 
drawdown during 2017/2018 financial year to enable the Culture 
Coventry Trust undertake cost reduction and income generation 
initiatives to achieve a sustainable financial position.

5. Subject to approval of recommendation (4) above, approves as 
required, the issue of a letter of comfort to the Culture Coventry Trust 
confirming that the Council will provide financial assistance during 
2017/2018 to enable it to carry out its cost reduction and income 
generation initiatives to achieve a sustainable financial position

6. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) and the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer to undertake the financial due diligence, 
negotiate and finalise the detailed terms of the loan arrangement and if 
satisfied as to their terms (and such other matters as deemed relevant) 
effect the completion of the appropriate loan agreement.

149. Any other items of private business which the Chair decides to take as a 
matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 

There were no other items of private business.

(Meeting closed at 3.00 pm)

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet

Cabinet 13th June 2017
Audit and Procurement Committee 26th June 2017

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Strategic Finance and Resources – Councillor J Mutton

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Director of Finance and Corporate Services

Ward(s) affected: All

Title:
Revenue and Capital Outturn 2016/17

Is this a key decision?
Yes 
The Council’s final outturn position for the year relates to financial matters in excess of £1.0m 

Executive Summary:

This report outlines the final revenue and capital outturn position for 2016/17 and reviews treasury 
management activity and 2016/17 Prudential Indicators reported under the Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance. 

The overall financial position includes the following headline items:

 Revenue overspending of £0.7m which is required to be funded by a contribution from 
Council reserves.

 Within this position, headline variations including an over-spend of £6.4m within the People 
Directorate and an under-spend of £5.0m within Corporate budgets including the Asset 
Management Revenue Account (AMRA).

 £6.7m of costs incurred as a result of early retirement and voluntary redundancy decisions, 
consistent with approval of the programme of staffing reductions agreed by Cabinet in 
November 2015. 

 Capital Programme expenditure of £71m which is £52m less than envisaged at the start of 
the year.

 A reduction in the level of Council revenue reserves from £57m to £51m and an increase in 
balances held relating to capital grants and capital receipts to fund future projects from £12m 
to £30m. 

The report seeks retrospective approval for a change to the Capital Programme reflecting final 
scheme costs on the completed Whitley Infrastructure, Friargate Bridgedeck and South West 
Coventry Junction Improvement schemes delivered by Costain.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



2

Recommendations:

Cabinet is requested to:
1. Approve the final revenue outturn position of a £0.7m overspend, balanced to nil by a £0.7m 

contribution from Corporate reserves. 
2. Approve the final capital expenditure and resourcing position, incorporating expenditure of 

£71m against a final budget of £82.3m; £12.5m expenditure rescheduled into 2017/18 and a 
net over-spend of £1.3m.

3. Give retrospective approval for a £1.4m virement reflecting final unfunded scheme costs on 
the completed Whitley Infrastructure, Friargate Bridgedeck and South West Coventry 
Junction Improvement schemes.

4. Approve the outturn Prudential Indicators position in section 2.4.4 and Appendix 3.

Audit and Procurement Committee is recommended to:
1. Consider the contents of the report and determine whether there are any issues which it 

wants to refer to the Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources. 

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1 Detailed breakdown of Directorate Revenue Variations
Appendix 2 Capital Programme Changes and Analysis of Rescheduling
Appendix 3 Prudential Indicators

Other useful background papers:

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

Yes - Audit and Procurement Committee 26th June 2017

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 18



3

Report title: Revenue and Capital Outturn 2016/17

1. Context (or background)

1.1 This report sets out the Council’s revenue and capital outturn position in 2016/17 and 
performance against its Prudential Indicators for the year. The City Council set a revenue 
budget for the year of £233.4m and a Directorate Capital Programme of £117m.  

1.2 The reported figures show the Council's financial position in relation to management 
accounts used to monitor performance through the year. The Audit and Procurement 
Committee will consider separately the Council's statutory Statement of Accounts.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 Revenue Outturn

2.1.1 Table 1 below summarises the outturn position, an overspend of £0.7m. This will be funded 
by a contribution from Council reserves. The outturn presentation retains the previous 
reporting structure that existed for the majority of the year, prior to the Directorate restructure 
that occurred in February.

Table 1 Summary Outturn Position 

Directorate Net  
Budget Outturn Variance Variance

£m £m £m %

Chief Executives 1.1 1.1 0.0 0.0%

Place 33.5 33.5 0.0 0.0%

People 166.0 172.4 6.4 3.8%

Resources 11.4 10.7 (0.7) 6.5%

212.0 217.7 5.7 2.7%

Contingency & Central Budgets
Resourcing of Net Budget

21.4
(233.4)

16.4
(233.4)

(5.0)
0.0

(23.4%)
0%

Bottom Line Variance 0.0 0.7 0.7 0.3%

Reserve Contribution 0.0 (0.7) (0.7)

Final Outturn 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.1.2 A projected over-spend of £4.8m was reported at quarter 3. The underlying movements 
between quarter 3 and outturn are as follows:

 Contingency and Central - £1.7m improvement 
 People Directorate - £1.4m improvement
 Resources - £0.7m improvement
 Place Directorate - £0.3m improvement

This results in an overall underlying net under-spend of £4.1m in the final quarter resulting in 
the overall over-spend of £0.7m. 

Page 19



4

Further detail is set out below. 

2.1.3 Directorate Positions

Contingency and Central
Central budgets reflect an under-spend of £2.4m within the Asset Management Revenue 
Account (AMRA) and of £2.6m within remaining budgets. The AMRA figure results principally 
from rescheduled capital expenditure leading to lower capital financing costs. The year-end 
position is a marginal improvement on quarter 3. The remaining under-spent budgets have 
improved by £1.6m on the position reported previously. This relates primarily to an increased 
underspend on contingency budgets and greater under-spends and delivery of savings on 
pension costs.

People
The People directorate continued to face significant financial challenges throughout the year, 
and a large underspend on centralised salaries (£5.05m) masked a significant overspend 
across other areas (£11.45m), including undelivered savings targets and budgetary control 
pressure.

The net position of a £6.4m overspend is made up of undelivered savings targets - most 
significantly the cross cutting kickstart and headcount targets in Children's and Adult's 
Services £2.6m, in addition to budgetary control pressures. The service has saving and 
delivery plans in place to manage the saving targets, but they were unable to be delivered 
within the 2016/17 financial year.

The most significant budgetary control variances relate to Looked After Children Placements, 
and supported accommodation provision for care leavers and homeless 18-24 year olds 
(£3m) and an overspend in external packages of care in Adult Services (£3.9m). £1.3m of 
one-off grant funding has supported the bottom line within Children's Services.

Although the overspend in Adult Social Care has been managed within forecast, it has not yet 
reduced due to the increasing demand with regard to younger adults entering the service. It 
is anticipated that the emerging plans for further review of the all age disability service as 
well as the additional funding identified as part of the budget will help to address this in future 
years. Children's Services has a savings delivery plan and budgetary control action plan in 
place for 2017/18 in order to manage the significant overspend.   

Resources
The Resources Directorate has an under spend against salary budgets and turnover target of 
£0.8m. This is partly offset by a non-salary overspend of £0.1m resulting in a net position of 
£0.7m underspend. Areas of financial pressure within the directorate include Legal Services, 
where due to vacancies and activity pressure spend has been incurred on agency and 
barristers. Pressure has also been experienced in Housing Benefit Subsidy grant 
arrangements due to high numbers of clients being in temporary accommodation, which 
means the Council cannot fully reclaim the Housing Benefit paid out. These have been offset 
against one-off underspends in ICT, Transformation & Customer Services as a result of 
delays in system implementation, and income generation within the Transformation Team.

Page 20



5

Place
The Place Directorate has out-turned at a breakeven position although there are a number of 
compensating variations within this position.

Shortfalls totalling £1.2m occurred in some of the directorate’s income generating areas. The 
largest of these related to unbudgeted debt write off of £650k for unrecoverable parking 
enforcement PCN’s. The others are known trading pressures in Schools Cleaning, CCTV & 
alarm monitoring, and St Marys catering & events. All of these are being pursued.

These income pressures have been offset by higher income earned in other areas totalling 
£0.8m, due to increased car parking, bus lane enforcement, and Planning income

Cost overspends within the directorate totalled £0.9m.  The vast majority of this relates to the 
use of agency staff to cover key vacancies which cannot be recruited to in the traffic and 
transportation services. This is currently being worked on to resolve. These have been offset 
by waste disposal and street lighting energy contract underspends totalling £0.3m, together 
with management actions of £0.7m. Management actions relate largely to one additional 
grant received in relation to project work carried out by senior staff, and also the accelerated 
delivery of workforce strategy targets which come in in 17/18

2.1.4 In order to help deliver the savings programmes required within the Council’s budget, staff 
were invited towards the end of 2016 to apply to take early retirement or voluntary 
redundancy. In total, decisions to release c230 of staff have been agreed incurring a cost of 
£6.7m compared with £5.8m in 2015/16. A budget of £2.5m exists to part fund these costs 
and the remaining £4.2m has been funded from the £12.5m reserve balance established for 
this purpose by a report to Cabinet in November 2015. 

2.2 Reserves

2.2.1 The Council’s revenue reserve balance at the end of 2016/17 is £51.3m, compared with 
£57.2 at the end of 2015/16. In addition, balances generated from capital receipts and capital 
grants to fund future capital projects have increased from £12.4m to £30.2m and reserve 
balances belonging to or earmarked to support schools which have reduced from £25.8m to 
£22.6m. The total reserve movement in 2016/17 is summarised in the table below. 

2.2.2 The Council has applied £4.2m of balances held to fund ER/VR costs in the year and a 
further £2m has been applied to fund a budgeted contribution to in-year Children’s Social 
Care costs. The Management of Capital reserve includes revenue reserves to fund future 
capital projects and has increased by £3.2m as a result of Capital Programme resourcing 
decisions considered within section 2.3 below. 

2.2.3 The Cabinet Member for Strategic Finance and Resources will consider an analysis of these 
balances and potential future spending commitments shortly and will bring recommendations 
forward as part of Budget Setting proposals or specific reports to Cabinet later in the year. It 
is also envisaged that Scrutiny Board 1 will undertake a detailed review of reserve balances 
this year in line with recent practice.

Page 21



6

Table 2 Summary of Reserve Movements in 2016/17

 
Balance at 
31st March 

2016
(Increase)/ 
Decrease

Balance at 
31st March 

2017

 £000 £000 £000

Council Revenue Reserves

General Fund Balance (3,823) 689 (3,134)

Private Finance Initiatives (11,771) 463 (11,308)

Potential Loss of Business Rates Income (2,670) 700 (1,970)

Early Retirement and Voluntary Redundancy (12,500) 4,239 (8,261)

Birmingham Airport Dividend (4,400) 0 (4,400)

Children's Social Care (2,000) 2,000 0

Leisure Development (876) (18) (894)

Public Health (1,037) 297 (740)

Health and Social Care Schemes (280) 280 0

Troubled Families (701) 15 (686)

Insurance Fund (2,402) 616 (1,786)

Management of Capital (2,337) (3,229) (5,566)

Other Corporate (2,343) 1,370 (973)

Other Directorate (6,920) (1,905) (8,825)

Other Directorate funded by Grant (3,101) 298 (2,803)

Total Council Revenue Reserves (57,161) 5,815 (51,346)

Council Capital Reserves

Useable Capital Receipts Reserve (6,660) (13,829) (20,489)

Capital Grant Unapplied Account (5,736) (4,001) (9,737)

Total Council Capital Reserves (12,396) (17,830) (30,226)

School Reserves

Schools (specific to individual schools) (19,983) 1,857 (18,126)

Schools (for centrally retained expenditure) (5,841) 1,348 (4,493)

Total School Reserves (25,824) 3,205 (22,619)

Total Council and Schools Reserves (95,381) (8,810) (104,191)

2.3 Capital Outturn

2.3.1 The capital outturn position for 2016/17 is shown in summary form below and in greater 
detail in Appendix 2:

Page 22



7

Table 3: Capital Outturn Summary

The quarter 3 monitoring report to Cabinet on 21st February 2017 approved a revised capital 
budget of £81.0m for 2016/17. Since then there has been a net programme increase of 
c£1.3m giving a final budget for the year of £82.3m. Since February, a total of £12.5m net 
rescheduled spending has arisen on directorate capital programmes. A scheme by scheme 
analysis is included in Appendix 2 and this is summarised in the table below.

Table 4: Summary of Rescheduling and Accelerated Spend

Project

(Rescheduling)
/Accelerated 

Spend
 £m

Explanations

Coventry Station 
Masterplan/NUCKLE (0.3)

Expenditure on Warwick Road Access Tunnel has been 
subject to programme delays. This was caused primarily by 
unforeseen utilities, alongside issues encountered with the 
piling sub-contractor which meant that a decision was 
taken to omit further piling and excavation works and ring-
fence the resources for these works to be undertaken as 
part of the wider Station Masterplan development when the 
tunnel will be brought into use.

Friargate Building (4.5)

As a result of slower than anticipated progress on site with 
the external façade, whilst the overall programme is 
maintained, there has been slippage in expenditure to 
these elements.  This will be fully utilised in the new 
financial year.

Public Realm and 
Highways (1.1)

This is due largely to utility organisations creating delay to 
works on the Banner Lane/Broad Lane Junction. Also the 
Public Realm 4 programme has altered due to changing 
priorities, the scheme still remains on course to spend 
Growth Deal grant by March 2018.

Sports (0.2)

The variance to the forecast spend on the City Centre 
Destination Leisure Facility scheme was due to the 
demolition element of the project coming in under the 
forecasted tender return. In addition the discovery of a 
small amount of asbestos resulted in a slight delay to 
programme which impacted on the project’s cash flow 
forecast. 

Growth 1&2 (0.3)

Due to bad weather, commencement of construction was 
delayed on the National Transport Design Centre, which 
has resulted in the programme being behind the 
anticipated position at year-end. Rescheduling has been 
approved by CWLEP Board.

CIF Schemes (0.18) Final elements of the CIF Programme relate to Lythalls 
Lane industrial Estate, where £100k has been set aside to 
refurbish unlet Units, if necessary to achieve a lease/sale.

Final Budget
£m

Final Spend 
£m

Net Rescheduling 
Now Reported 

£m

Over-
spends 

£m

Total 
Variance 

£m

82.3 71.0 (12.5) 1.3 (11.2)

Page 23



8

Vehicle & Plant 
Replacement

(1.6)
Service reviews and service redesigns  within Highways, 
Streetpride and Passenger Transport Services have meant 
that the operational life of existing vehicles has been 
extended, 

Education Capital 
Programme (0.7)

Specific issues around the mechanical and electrical works 
are delayed, along with the build of a wet room at Gosford 
Park which are both due to the capacity of the in-house 
design team.  The Broad Spectrum School is slightly ahead 
of schedule with £0.5m accelerated spend. 

ICT (1.9) Delays in the delivery/roll of specific ICT projects, including 
the relocation of the data centre, Mitel and the HR/Payroll 
system has caused slippage in the ICT Programme

City Centre South 0.2
Extra advisor costs not taken account of or unknown in the 
quarter 3 projections

Disabled Facilities 
Grant (0.8)

The Better Care Fund has provided additional funding in 
2016/17 in the region of £600k which was not anticipated 
or planned for.  It has not been possible to utilise this 
additional funding within the year. In addition,   Whitefriars 
housing (which manages its own DFG adaptations) has a 
backlog of jobs as a result of their contractor going out of 
business.

Other (1.3)

This covers a mixture of Play areas, Grants to SME's to 
encourage regeneration and growth in their sector, and 
other grant funded schemes.   Rescheduling reflects 
delays in the take up of grant and changes to scope or 
procurement issues.

TOTAL (12.5)

Table 5 Over and Underspends in the Capital Programme £1.2m

Project Over/Underspend
NUCKLE Phase 1 (0.3)
Costain Projects (Friargate Bridedeck, 
Whitley Junction and SWCJIP

1.6

Total 1.3

2.3.2 Costain Projects £1.4m

The recommended Capital Programme outturn position within this report includes additional 
overall unfunded programme cost of £1.4m for 3 recent major schemes in the city delivered 
by Costain; Friargate Bridge-Deck, the Whitley road junction adjacent to the Jaguar Land 
Rover (JLR) site and road improvements around the University of Warwick. The figures in 
this section refer to the total costs for all three projects, the final total out-turn for which is 
£45.8m (£38.95m for construction and £6.85m of third party costs). This compares with 
budgets previously reported to and approved by Cabinet of £44.3m and approval is sought 
retrospectively for the additional cost incurred.  

Following award of strictly time-limited Regional Growth Funding in 2013, Costain were 
appointed to construct the Friargate Bridge Deck and Whitley Junction.  Further work to 

Page 24



9

improve roads around, and funded by, the University of Warwick, was also awarded to 
Costain.  To meet external funder timescales it was necessary to use a ‘Target Cost’ contract, 
which allows design and construction phases to start in parallel. This approach allows only 
limited initial design information to be shared with the contractor with costs being adjusted 
through Compensation Events (CEs) as more information becomes available. The contractor 
is incentivised through payment of their actual costs plus or minus a ‘pain/gain’ share which 
penalises or rewards the contractor depending on the difference between actual and target 
cost.  

This approach was essential in order to secure the external funding and prevent grant claw-
back by delivering these projects within the tight time-scales. The Whitley and Bridgedeck 
schemes respectively have enabled £0.5 billion investment by JLR and allowed the 
construction of the new Council building to proceed which will deliver significant cost savings.

The previously approved approvals and additional costs included within the final outturn 
position include increased construction costs from 1,035 claimed compensation events. 
These reflect issues such as uncharted utilities, additional deep drainage works and 
additional work around the Friargate area. The final settlement to Costain has been the 
subject of a protracted negotiation, Costain claiming amounts due of up to £41.9m compared 
with the Council’s assessment of the cost at £38.0m. In order to establish a negotiating 
position, a number of approaches were used including looking at Costain’s direct costs and 
a third party evaluation of the value of works.  To mitigate the risk, the Council employed a 
firm of forensic Quantity Surveyors to work on the contracts.

Agreement was reached on the figure of £38.95m in March subject to the Council paying in 
full by March 31st 2017 (the remaining £6.85m scheme costs relating to third party amounts). 
 Cabinet Member approval for the final element of the payment was obtained in accordance 
with the constitution and payment made.  The constitution requires that such a payment is 
reported retrospectively and this is the purpose of the recommendation in this report.

It is proposed to fund the additional unfunded cost of £1.4m through a reallocation of growth 
deal funding for the Station Masterplan following revisions to the scope of that project in 
relation to land acquisition requirements. It should be noted that the proposed Station Master-
plan project as approved by Cabinet in January 2017 will still be delivered in its entirety.

2.3.3 The 2016/17 and future Programme continues to maintain a significant investment in the 
City’s Capital investment incorporating expenditure on the following key programmes and 
schemes:

 Highways and Public Realm.  The City Council has made significant investment in 
specific Public Realm schemes including use of £2m Local Growth Deal funding, 
secured to deliver a number of city centre public realm schemes, including Greyfriars 
Lane, Fairfax Street/Hales St and Cuckoo Lane. In addition works continues on the 
resurfacing of roads, and Swanswell Viaduct.

 Connecting Coventry is a strategic transport programme of £620m investment in 
transport infrastructure in Coventry over the next 10 years.  In 2016/17 £4.4m of spend 
has been incurred within in the Strategic Transport Programme, these currently funded 
from the Local Growth Deal.    The primary source of funding going forward with be a 
mixture of WMCA – Devolution Deal, along with Local Growth Deal, DfT, Highways 
England and private investment. 

Page 25



10

 City Centre South (CCS) is a major regeneration project covering the southern part 
of Coventry city centre, which will transform the area by redeveloping approximately 
half (6.7 hectares) of the city centre retail core. WMCA  funding worth just under 
£100m, and the Council is investing in the form of properties and land worth £28m 
which are being transferred into a Special Purpose Vehicle for the development  
formed with a private developer.

 Education capital grant funding is made up of two elements, Basic Need and 
Condition/ Maintenance. The programme this year has slipped due to some in-house 
capacity issues, but the City Council still has sufficient school places, in mainstream 
schools, secured by the primary school expansion programme in 2008-14.  The 
replacement of Tiverton Primary School at Whitley, which is under construction, will 
start to address the shortage of places in special education provision in the City. 

 City Centre Destination Facility (CCDF) - In September 2014, Coventry City Council 
approved the addition of £36.7m to its capital programme for 2014/15 onwards, for 
the development of a (CCDLF) on the existing Christchurch House and Spire House 
site. The design for the CCDLF has now been taken to RIBA stage 4, with full planning 
permission approved in July 2016 .The demolition of Christchurch House and Spire 
House site commenced September 2016 in and was completed in February 2017. 
The Councils preferred contractor Buckingham’s Group Ltd starting the construction 
of the CCDLF in March 2017 and are currently working on the building foundations. 
The CCDLF is currently on programme and scheduled to be fully opened in spring 
2019.

2.3.2 The funding in respect of this capital expenditure of £71.0m is summarised in Table 6 below 
The Programme has been resourced almost exclusively from capital grants including use of 
the £35m grant for Whitley infrastructure which has been applied ahead of the need to spend 
on the Whitley scheme. In order to fund future programmes of spend these resources will 
need to be back-filled by capital reserves, capital receipts and prudential borrowing over the 
next few years.

Table 6: Capital Funding

Funding the 
Programme 

£m

Available 
Resources 

£m

Resources 
Carried 
Forward 

£m
Prudential Borrowing 0 0 0
Grants and Other Contributions 70.5 83.8 13.3
Revenue Contributions
Capital Receipts

0.5
0

0.5
20.5

0
20.5

Capital of Management Reserve 0 5.6 5.6
Total Resourcing 71.0 110.4 39.4

2.4 Treasury Management Activity
 
2.4.1 Political uncertainty has been the main driver of the economic landscape during 2016/17. 

Uncertainty over the outcome of the US Presidential election & the UK’s future relationship 
with the EU resulted in significant market volatility during the year. UK inflation continued to 

Page 26



11

be subdued in the first half of 2016/17, however, the sharp fall in the Sterling exchange rate 
following the EU referendum had an impact on import prices which resulted in inflation rising 
from 0.3% in April 2016 to 2.3% in March 2017. Despite the uncertainty, UK GDP grew 
steadily during the year & the unemployment rate dropped to 4.7% in February, its lowest 
level in 11 years. The fallout from the EU referendum also caused the Bank of England Base 
rate to be cut to 0.25% from 0.5%. Current forecasts expect the base rate to stay at 0.25% 
until at least June 2020, with a further reduction to close to zero more likely than a rate rise 
in the meantime. 

Longer term rates, at which local authorities borrow from the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB), were:- 

Table 7: PWLB Interest Rates

PWLB Loan Duration 
(standard rates)

Minimum in
2016/17

Maximum 
in

2016/17

Average 
in 

2016/17
5 year 1.15% 2.00% 1.56%
20 year 2.20% 3.40% 2.85%
50 year 2.07% 3.28% 2.69%

Given the above rates it has continued to be cheaper for local authorities to use short rather 
than long term funds for financing.

2.4.2 Long Term Funding - At outturn, the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), which indicates 
the authority’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes, has reduced by £11m:-

Table 8: 2016/17 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

£m
Capital Financing Requirement at 1st April 2016 391.8
Borrowing to finance 2016/17 Capital Programme 0.0

PFI & Finance Leases liabilities 1.1

Donated Assets (1.1)

Provision to Repay Debt (Minimum Revenue Provision) (10.0)

Provision to Repay Debt (Capital Receipts Set Aside) 0.0

Repayment of Transferred Debt (0.9)

Reduction of Provision and other restatements (0.1)

Capital Financing Requirement at 1st April 2017 380.8

No new long term borrowing was taken out during 2016/17, however, some borrowing will be 
required in the future to support current capital expenditure plans and the need for any such 
borrowing will be kept under review in 2017/18. Within 2016/17, the movements in long-term 
borrowing and other liabilities were:-

Page 27



12

Table 9: Long Term Liabilities (debt outstanding)

Source of Borrowing Balance at 
31st March 

2016
Repaid in 

Year
Raised in 

Year
Balance at 
31st March 

2017
£m £m £m £m

PWLB 209.4 0 0 209.4
Money Market 59.0 0 0 59.0
Stock Issue 12.0 0 0 12.0
Other 0.5 0 0 0.5
sub total ~ long term 
borrowing 280.9 0 0 280.9

Other Local Authority Debt 16.5 (1.1) 0 15.4
PFI & Finance Leasing 
Liabilities 74.9 (2.1) 1.1 73.9

Total 372.3 (3.2) 1.1 370.2

This long term borrowing is repayable over the following periods:-

Table 10: Long Term Borrowing Maturity Profile (excluding PFI & transferred debt)

Period Long Term 
Borrowing

£m

Short Term 
Borrowing 

£m
Under 12 Months 37.0 0
1 – 2 years 7.3 0
2 – 5 years 34.2 0
5 – 10 years 21.7 0
Over 10 years 180.7 0
Total 280.9 0

In line with CIPFA Treasury Management Code requirements, Lenders Option, Borrowers 
Option Loans (LOBOs) with banks are included in the maturity profile based on the earliest 
date on which the lender can require repayment. The Council has £58m of such loans, £30m 
of which the lender can effectively require to be paid at 6 monthly or annual intervals, and 
£28m at 5 yearly intervals

2.4.3 Short Term In House Borrowing and Investments - The Treasury Management Team acts 
on a daily basis to manage the City Council's day to day cash-flow, by borrowing or investing 
for short periods. By holding short term investments, such as money in call accounts, 
authorities help ensure that they have an adequate source of liquid funds. No short term 
borrowing was taken out during the year as the Council’s cashflow requirements were met 
from its own cash and short term investment balances. During the year the Council held 
significant short term investments, as set out in Table 11. The average short term investment 
rate in 2016/17 was 0.66%.

Page 28



13

Table 11: In House Investments at 31st March 2017

At 30 th 

June 2016
£m

At 30 th 

Sept 2016
£m

At 31st Dec 
2016
£m

At 31st 
Mar 2017

£m 
Banks and Building 
Societies 54.0 54.4 53.4 14.0

Local Authorities 0.0 0.0 20.0 45.0
Money Market Funds 15.8 18.6 8.7 6.5
Corporate Bonds 23.2 34.9 24.3 13.6
Registered Providers 5.0 15.0 15.0 10.0
Total 98.0 122.9 121.4 89.1

In addition to the above in house investments, a mix of Collective Investment Schemes or 
“pooled funds” is used, where investment is in the form of sterling fund units and not specific 
individual investments with financial institutions or organisations. These funds are generally 
AAA rated, are highly liquid, as cash can be withdrawn within two to four days, and short 
average duration of the intrinsic investments. The intrinsic Sterling investments include 
Certificates of Deposits, Commercial Paper, Corporate Bonds, Floating Rate Notes and Call 
Account Deposits. However, they are designed to be held for longer durations allowing any 
short term fluctuations in return due to volatility to be smoothed out.

Table 12: External, Pooled Investments as at 31st March 2017

Date 
Invested

Cost
£m

Value 
£m

Annualised 
Return %

CCLA Nov 2013 10.0 11.03 4.86%
Royal London Enhanced 
Cash Plus Fund Sep 2016 4.8 4.83 1.22%

Payden Sterling Reserve Feb 2012 7.5 7.93 1.14%
Federated Prime Rate Cash 
Plus Mar 2013 7.7 7.85 0.65%

Deutsche Ultra Short Fund Jan 2017 1.0 1.00 0.64%
Standard Life Investments 
Sterling Short Duration Fund Mar 2015 7.8 7.90 0.61%

Royal London Cash Plus 
Fund Sep 2016 3.0 3.01 0.59%

Total 41.8 43.55 1.78%
    

In placing investments the authority manages credit risk within the parameters set out in the 
investment strategy, approved as part of the budget setting report. Central to this is the 
assessment of credit quality based on a number of factors including credit ratings, credit 
default swaps (insurance cost) and sovereign support mechanisms. Limits are set to manage 
exposure to individual institutions or groups. Whilst the fears of systemic banking failures 
may have receded, the development of “bail-in” make it almost certain that unsecured and 
corporate investors would suffer losses in the event of a bank default. Credit risk remains an 
issue for local authorities.

Page 29



14

2.4.4 Prudential and Treasury Indicators - The Local Government Act 2003 and associated CIPFA 
Prudential and Treasury Management Codes set the framework for the local government 
capital finance system. Authorities are able to borrow whatever sums they see fit to support 
their capital programmes, subject to them being able to afford the revenue costs. The 
framework requires that authorities set and monitor against a number of prudential and 
treasury indicators relating to capital, treasury management and revenue issues. These 
indicators are designed to ensure that borrowing entered into for capital purposes was 
affordable, sustainable and prudent. The purpose of the indicators is to support decision 
making and financial management, rather than illustrate comparative performance. 

Revenue Related Prudential Indicators

Within Appendix 3 the Ratio of Financing costs to Net Revenue Stream (Ref 1) highlights the 
revenue impact of the capital programme. This shows that the revenue costs of financing our 
capital expenditure as a proportion of our income from government grant and Council Tax. 
The actual is 13.09%, as against a 14.03% as forecast in the Treasury Management 
Strategy. This reflects a lower level of borrowing than anticipated to fund the Capital 
Programme and higher levels of investment balances.

Capital and Treasury Management Related Prudential Indicators
These indicators, set out in Appendix 3, include:

 Authorised Limit for External Debt (Ref 5) ~ This represents the level of gross 
borrowing which could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable. It is the 
forecast maximum borrowing need, with some headroom for unexpected movements 
and potential debt restructuring. This is a statutory limit. Borrowing plus PFI and finance 
lease liabilities at £357.1m was within the limit of £477.3m.

 Operational Boundary for External Debt (Ref 6) ~ This indicator is based on the 
probable level of gross borrowing during the course of the year; it is not a limit and 
actual borrowing could vary around this boundary for short times during the year. It 
should act as an indicator to ensure the authorised limit is not breached. Borrowing 
plus PFI and finance lease liabilities at £357.1m was within the boundary of £437.3m.

 Gross Debt v "Year 3" Capital Financing Requirement (Ref 2) ~ The Council needs 
to be certain that net external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the 
total of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) in the current year plus the estimates 
of any additional capital financing requirement for the next two financial years.  The 
CFR is defined as the Council's underlying need to borrow, after taking into account 
other resources available to fund the Capital Programme. This indicator is designed to 
ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose.  
Gross debt is within the “year 3” or 2018/19 CFR limit of £479.7m.

 Debt Maturity Structure, Interest Rate Exposure and Investments Longer than 
364 Days (Ref 8 - 10) ~ The purpose of these prudential indicators is to contain the 
activity of the treasury function within certain limits, thereby reducing the risk or 
likelihood of an adverse movement in interest rates or borrowing decisions impacting 
negatively on the Councils overall financial position. Treasury Management activity was 
within these limits. The Debt Maturity PI (Ref 9) indicates that there is a potential 13.2% 
of total debt that needs to be refinanced in 2017/18, compared to the PI limit of 40% in 
the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy. The potential refinancing need includes 
LOBO loans for which the lender effectively has a call option, which if exercised would 
require the Council to repay the loan. If these loans were required to be repaid, the City 

Page 30



15

Council would look to refinance these at lower borrowing costs or through the use of 
investment balances in the first instance.

3. Results of consultation undertaken
3.1 None.

4. Timetable for implementing this decision
4.1 There is no implementation timetable as this is a financial monitoring report.

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications
The final revenue outturn picture for 2016/17 is over-spend of £0.7 balanced to nil by a 
contribution from Council reserves. Large overspends have occurred within individual service 
areas, most notably adults’ and children’s social care. 

Within Adults’ Social Care, additional funding identified as part of the February 2016 Budget 
Report and subsequent resources announced in early 2017 (the 3% Adult Social Care 
precept, the 2017/18 Adult Social Care Grant and resources announced within the 
Government’s Spring 2017 Budget) should ensure that the service will be able to manage 
within budget in 2017/18.

A greater challenge exists within Children’s Services. Although the service has a savings 
delivery plan and budgetary control action plan in place for 2017/18 in order to manage its 
significant underlying over-spend, there is a recognition that maintaining expenditure within 
budget will be very difficult.  Delivery of the transformation savings required will be a key 
focus in this service area.

The Asset Management Revenue Account has delivered a significant saving compared to 
budget. This results from lower than anticipated capital spending plus intentional efforts to 
minimise the level of Council borrowing through the application of capital receipts and 
revenue contributions (over several years). The underlying and on-going flexibility in this area 
has enabled an on-going £1.5m saving to be built into the 2017/18 budget. The measures 
that have helped to generate this saving will continue to be taken to help strengthen the 
financial position of the Council as a whole and will continue to be a very important feature 
of the Council’s medium term financial planning. 

The pressure to manage the large reductions in government funding and absorb the financial 
impact of current demographic and societal pressures continues to cause financial 
challenges in some parts of the Council’s budget. However, strong overall control continues 
to be applied allowing the Council to take advantage of tactical opportunities to protect its 
budget such as: central control of salaries, use of capital receipts to repay debt, management 
of reserve balances for corporate use, implementation of staff reduction programmes and 
continued attraction of significant external funding. These actions have helped to contribute 
to continued achievement of underspends and demonstrates the continued strength of the 
Council’s budget management approach. 

As referenced above, management of the Council’s programme of savings targets has not 
achieved universal success across all service areas. Care will be needed to ensure that the 
scale and pace of savings targets remains realistic in the face of service demands, 
recognising also that all services need to contribute to the changes needed to deliver a 
balanced budget.

Page 31



16

The application of grant funding has been maximised within the Capital Programme resulting 
in no prudential borrowing in the year. Prudential Borrowing approvals not utilised for the 
2016/17 programme will be applied in future years as capital spending is incurred. 

Notwithstanding an increase in reserves maintained to fund future capital projects the 
Council’s revenue reserve levels have gone down in 2016/17. Current reserves represent an 
appropriate level of balances for an authority of the Council’s size and are all earmarked for 
approved uses or will otherwise be available for member decision in the forthcoming Budget 
Setting process. 

Tight management of the Council’s finances over recent years has enabled the Council to 
establish a balanced three year budget and generated capital resources that offer some 
limited future flexibility. Decisions will be required going forward to consider the best way in 
which these resources can be applied for strategic use. These might include meeting 
new/existing policy priorities, meeting potential spending pressures on existing schemes, 
identifying new opportunities for buying income generating assets or displacing Prudential 
Borrowing on existing capital schemes (effectively repaying debt). 

5.2 Legal implications
There are no specific legal implications in relation to this report.

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?
The Council monitors the quality and level of service provided to the citizens of Coventry and 
the key objectives of the Council Plan. As far as possible we will try to deliver better value 
for money in the services that we provide in the context of managing with fewer resources.

6.2 How is risk being managed?
The need to deliver a stable and balanced financial position in the short and medium term is 
a key corporate risk for the local authority and is reflected in the corporate risk register. 
Budgetary control and monitoring processes are paramount to managing this risk and this 
report is a key part of the process.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?
The revenue and capital outturn position reported here demonstrates that the Council 
continues to undertake sound overall financial management. This will continue to be very 
important in the light of the massive challenges being faced with regard to the level of funding 
available to local government over the next few years.

6.4 Equalities / EIA 
No specific impact.

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment
None.

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?
None.

Page 32



17

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Paul Jennings, Finance Manager Corporate Finance

Directorate: 
Place

Tel and email contact: 
02476 83 3753 Paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Lara Knight Governance 

Services Co-
ordinator

Place 18/5/17 19/5/17

Michael Rennie Lead 
Accountant

Place 15/5/17 15/5/17

Helen Williamson Lead 
Accountant

Place 15/5/17 15/5/17

Paul Hammond Accountant Place 15/5/17 15/5/17
Rachael Sugars Finance 

Manager
Place 18/5/17 19/5/17

Ewan Dewar Finance 
Manager

Place 18/5/17 19/5/17

Phil Helm Finance 
Manager

Place 18/5/17 19/5/17

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and Members)
Finance: Barry Hastie Director of 

Finance and 
Corporate 
Services

Place 19/5/17 19/5/17

Legal: Carol Bradford Corporate 
Governance 
Lawyer

Place 18/5/17 23/5/17

Members: Councillor J  
Mutton

Cabinet Member 
for Strategic 
Finance and 
Resources

-

This report is published on the council's website:www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 33

mailto:Paul.jennings@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Appendix 1 Revenue Variations

Reporting Area Explanation £m
People The People Directorate overall has underspent against its salary budgets 

and turnover target by £5.05m. This is partly as a result of high levels of 
vacancies in Childrens Social Care, which contributed £3.2m of the 
underspend. Part of the non-salary overspend is a result of agency staff in 
Childrens Social Care. During March this figure was down to 47 
(compared to 76 at 31st March 2016). Internally provided services in Adult 
Social Care contributed a further £0.6m towards the overall underspend 
as a result of planned vacancies and efficiencies.

(5.1)

Resources The Resources Directorate overall is underspending against its salary 
budgets and turnover target by £0.8M. This is due to vacancies and early 
delivery of staffing savings across all areas of the service.

(0.8)

Place This variation is primarily caused by vacancies which have proved difficult 
to recruit to, net of turnover targets for the directorate.  Some of the 
vacancies are key posts which have required agency appointments, which 
are under review with HR colleagues to appoint on a permanent basis

(0.3)

Total Non-
Controllable 
Variances

 (6.2)

REPORTING 
AREA

EXPLANATION £m

PEOPLE 
DIRECTORATE

  

Overspends:   
All Age Disability 
and Mental 
Health 
Community 
Purchasing

Underlying budget pressures continue to rise in part due to increasing 
demand for social care for eligible service users. Working age adults tend 
to receive expensive packages of care for a longer period of time. This 
increases the cumulative cost of services as younger people tend to 
receive services longer once they enter the care system. Control 
mechanisms are in place to ensure expenditure is robustly scrutinised and 
managed. Significant work on reducing retrospective packages has been 
undertaken this year so a more consistent and accurate budget forecast is 
achieved on a monthly basis. 

3.1

LAC Services An overspend on staffing due to use of agency staff to cover vacancies, 
which is partly offset by an underspend in the centralised salary forecast. 
Overall there is an overspend on LAC placements of £1M, this is due to 
an overspend on external residential placements for LAC driven by cost 
as although numbers have remained stable there has been an increase in 
more expensive placements, partially offset by an underspend on internal 
and external fostering as a result of lower numbers on average across the 
year in fostering placements than originally planned. Total LAC 
placements have increased over the year from 487 to 503.

2.6

Page 34



19

Strategy & 
Commissioning 
(CLYP)

This budget pays for supported accommodation for care leavers, and 
vulnerable homeless aged 18-24. The overspend is a result of high levels 
of activity, and not enough of the the right types of provision. The strategy 
to to ensure that young people are in appropriate accommodation and not 
placed together with adults is also impacting as a result of needing to spot 
purchase more placements. A recovery plan is in place to plot and monitor 
move on timescales for individual young people, and this should improve 
the position in 2017/18. Recent work has also commenced on a review 
and refresh of the corporate housing and homelessness strategy. 

2.2

Child Protection Overspend on staffing costs due to use of agency incurred to fill 
vacancies. This is offset by an underspend on salaries reported as part of 
the centralised forecast,  £0.1M underspend on Section 17 and 
discretionary payments due to greater scrutiny of expenditure, and £0.1M 
underspend on Educational Welfare service due to holding vacancies 
ahead of Education Services Grant fall out in 2017/18.

1.6

SCTEI Strategic 
Management

This is undelivered savings targets within Children's Services (headcount 
reduction and Kickstart). The service has saving and delivery plans in 
place to deliver these targets, but they cannot be achieved within the 
current timescale

1.5

Adult Social Care 
Director

This overspend is as result off all corporate budget savings allocations 
(£1.226m) being assigned against this budget.  These savings targets 
were required to be delivered over the year across all of adult social care. 

1.0

Older People 
Community 
Purchasing

Underlying budget pressures have reduced during the year through in part 
a reduction in residential placements, although pressures are still high. 
Management actions have ensured demand on  social care is managed in 
the most cost effective way to reduce overall costs. Control mechanisms 
have been put in place to ensure expenditure is robustly monitored. 
Focused efforts to manage approved packages through the panel process 
have ensured packages of care are robustly scrutinised before being 
approved.

0.7

Inclusion & 
Participation

This overspend mainly relates to transport costs, offset by underspends in 
a number of other areas. The overspend is partly attributable to an 
increase in volume.  All travel assistance policies have been reviewed and 
the revised policies will be implemented in September 17.  

0.5

Internally 
Provided Services

The overspends (agency costs, other pay and overtime) have been offset 
by larger underspends on centralised salary costs due to a number of 
vacancies and planned efficiencies.

0.3

Adult Education This is an undelivered savings target, that was due to be delivered 
through resource switching. This has been managed within the Budgetary 
Control Posiiton for the Education, Libraries & Adult Learning service.

0.2

Safeguarding Overspend is due to agency costs being incurred to fill staffing vacancies 
within the Children’s Safeguarding service. This is partially offset be an 
underspend on salaries reported as part of the centralised forecast 
underspend

0.1

School 
Enrichment 
Services

Performing Arts Service income has reduced during the year resulting in a 
£100k shortfall against budget.  The service redesign will be implemented 
in September 17 which will achieved efficiencies, increase flexibility for 
customers and assist the service in achieving a break even position.

0.1

Underspends:   
Business 
Performance 
(SCTEI)

Underspend as a result of a reduction in activity on LAC transport, and a 
shift in the way LAC transport has been provided.

(0.1)

Page 35



20

Planning Planned underspend as a result of staff savings delivered ahead of the 
Education Services Redesign. 

(0.1)

Integrated Youth 
Support Service

Public health have supported an additional £0.2M of activity  in the Youth 
Service  freeing up Core budget. 

(0.2)

CPH Place This underspend relates to lower than anticipated costs relating to the 
initial expected costs of supporting the development of Combined 
Authority proposals

(0.2)

Advice and 
Health 
Information 
Services

Underspend in respect of Migration grant income, which supports 
expenditure within other Council services.

(0.3)

Strategic 
Commissioning 
(Adults)

This underspend is the effect of better than anticipated efficiency savings 
across a number of contracts. 

(0.4)

Early Years, 
Parenting & 
Childcare

 Public Health have supported an additional £1.0m of activity freeing up 
core budget.

(1.1)

Other Variations 
less than 100k

 (0.2)

 Forecast Overspend/(Underspend) 11.3
   
REPORTING 
AREA

EXPLANATION £m

PLACE 
DIRECTORATE

  

Overspends:   
Traffic The primary reason for the variation is due to 2 key pressures, the use of 

agency staff to cover vacancies of £313k, together with the write-off of 
prior year parking enforcement debt amounting to £648k. Debt write off 
was greater than anticipated and insufficiently provided for in the bad debt 
provision. This is partly due to an increase in the level of bad debt 
attributable to vehicles that have been incorrectly registered with the 
DVLA and/or where it is not possible to trace the owner. Consequently, 
the average income yield per PCN has decreased below the levels that 
were used to forecast throughout the year.   In addition, there has also 
been an increase in the number of cancelled PCNs for other reasons - 
including the cancellation of older debts and difficulty enforcing debts (e.g. 
persistent offenders and bailiff enforcement). An action plan is in place to 
mitigate some of these issues in 2017/18.

This was offset by:
•  Increased bus lane enforcement PCN's generating £111k
•  Higher car parking income performance of £173k
•  Street Lighting energy saving of £220k due to contract price reduction

0.5

Environmental 
Services

Continued under recovery of new MTFS income targets relating to alarm 
monitoring and CCTV services. There is currently an ongoing review 
which will aim to reduce this pressure.

0.2

Streetpride & 
Parks

Primarily agency costs incurred in Streetpride during service reviews, 
together with traveller incursion cost pressures, offset by a net income 
surplus generated in bereavement services

0.2

Sports, Culture, 
Destination & Bus 
Relationships

Pressure caused primarily by a St. Mary's catering trading deficit of £140k, 
together with the £46k cost of the Free Passport to Leisure card issue

0.2

Waste & Fleet 
Services

Savings on Waste disposal costs and reduced Passenger Transport costs 
have helped offset a series of primarily one off pressures in fleet. 

0.1

Page 36



21

Commercial 
Property

Building cleaning trading deficit 0.1

Transport & 
Infrastructure

Expenditure on agency cover and reduced income from capitalised staff. 0.1

Underspends:   
Economy & Jobs Grant funding identified to meet staffing costs (0.1)
Development 
Services

Sale proceeds for Canley site for surveyors costs £177k received after Q3 
forecast.

(0.1)

PTH 
Management & 
Support

Underspend due to charging for officer time spent on major projects. (0.2)

Directorate & 
Support

In year accelerated delivery of workforce strategy targets for the 
directorate of c£0.5m, offset by under delivery of Kickstart targets. Both 
these targets increase significantly in 17/18 which will result in a net deficit 
target as yet to be achieved

(0.3)

Planning & 
Regulatory 
Services

Higher planning and enforcement income than budgeted (0.5)

Other Variations 
less than 100k

 (0.2)

 Forecast Overspend/(Underspend) 0.1
   
REPORTING 
AREA

EXPLANATION £m

RESOURCES 
DIRECTORATE

  

Overspends:   
Legal Services Overspend due to high levels of activity within Children's Services 

(number of hearings per case) requiring external counsel to be instructed. 
In addition, due to vacancies on the team there has been the need for 
agency cover. The majority of the vacancies are now recruited to. There 
has also been increased activity within Coroners, which has led  to an 
overspend. The unpredictable nature of some of this work has led to the 
increase in overspend since quarter 3. 

0.5

Revenues and 
Benefits

A net overspend of £1.2M on Housing Benefit Subsidy, which is made up 
of an overspend on housing benefit paid for clients in temporary and 
supported accommodation, which is less than can be reclaimed from the 
Subsidy grant (£2.9M). This is reduced by £1.8M as a result of recovered 
overpaid housing benefit. There is also an underspend of £0.7M, as a 
result of 1-off grant from DWP, and other 1-off technical issues.   

0.4

ICT Operations Overspend relates to the costs of migrating users from the previous 
mobile phone contract to the new one (now complete) and some one-off 
spend relating to roll out of kit in preparation for Friargate. This was 
partially offset by tightened control and scrutiny around contracts within 
the Data & Voice Team.

0.3

Underspends:   
Financial Mgt Underspend as a result of early delivery of 17/18 step up in savings target, 

funded from salary and non-salary savings including review of CIPFA 
apprenticeship programme, and additional income for services provided 
by the Finance Team. 

(0.1)

Page 37



22

Customer and 
Business 
Services

A £396K underspend as a result of increased internal income (printing) 
and early delivery of 17/18 step up in savings target, funded from salary 
and non-salary savings. This has been offset by a £243K overspend 
relating to support costs for statutorily homeless clients including storage 
costs for clients' possessions, and some additional temporary resource. 
This position is under ongoing review against a backdrop of national 
change with the imminent introduction of the Homelessness Reduction 
Bill.

(0.2)

Transformation 
Programme 
Office

Underspend relates to costs being charged to specific projects resulting in 
unexpected internal income. 

(0.3)

ICT Strategy, 
Systems & 
Development

Underspend relates to delays in system implementations which have 
delayed requirement for revenue software licencing costs.

(0.4)

Other Variations 
less than 100k

 (0.1)

 Forecast Overspend/(Underspend) 0.1

Contingency & 
Central Budgets

  

Underspends:   
Corporate 
Finance

The Asset Management Revenue Account has under-spent by £2.4m at 
year-end compared with £2.3m at quarter 3. This is due mostly to reduced 
capital financing costs arising from lower than planned borrowing in 
2015/16, higher than planned investment income resulting from large cash 
balances and newly declared share dividend income from Birmingham 
Airport and Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Company. The inflation 
contingencies budget has under-spent by £1.5m compared with £1.0m 
projected at quarter 3. Further under-spends have occurred within the 
Policy Contingency, the Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool 
budget and in budgets for pensions savings and pension costs.

(5.0)

   
 Forecast Overspend/(Underspend) (5.0)

Page 38



23

Appendix 2 Capital Programme Change and Analysis of Rescheduling

SCHEME APPROVED 
CHANGES

(RESCHEDU
LING) / 
ACCELERA
TED SPEND

(UNDERSPE
ND) / 
OVERSPEN
D

EXPLANATION

PEOPLE 
DIRECTORATE

    

DFG  (0.8)  BCF additional funding in the region 
of £600k was put into the Capital 
budget for DFG 2016/17.  This was 
not anticipated or planned for.  
Therefore due to operational 
demands throughout the year we 
never developed an effective strategy 
to use this additional funding and 
with normal working practices we 
would never have spent the 
additional monies.  Also spend was 
reduced in this area due to 
unforeseen problem with a backlog of 
jobs with Whitefriars Housing Group 
which would have ordinarily been 
paid for in the year.

Pathways to 
Care (Support to 
Foster Carers)

 (0.1)  This relates to 3 applications which 
were approved in 16/17 but due to 
issues ranging from Planning 
consent to Legal loan agreeements, 
were not in place to action the 
payment 16/17.  These documents 
have now been finalised and 
payment will be process in 17/18

Condition - 
Schools

 (0.8)  This is an ongoing programme, 
works will be scheduled into 17/18, 
specifically the mechancial and 
electrical works are delayed due to 
the capacity of the inhouse design 
team. 

Broad Spectrum 
School

 0.5  Part of a £10m construction 
programme, works a month ahead of 
schedule.

Early Years  (0.1)  Projects are currenlty being 
revaluated, pending the outcome of 
the Family Hubs.

Suitability/Acces
s

 (0.1)  Some of the funds orginally set aside 
to complete a wet room at Gosford 
Park, were not able to be completed 
as schedule due to lack of inhouse 
capacity.   The remainder will be 
carryforward to met the furture 
demands.

Miscellaneous  (0.1)  Aggregated changes that total 
>£100k.

SUB TOTAL - 
People

0.0 (1.4) 0.0  

Page 39



24

PLACE 
DIRECTORATE

    

City Centre 
South

 0.2  Extra advisor costs not taken account 
for or unknown in the quarter 3 
projections

Banner Lane 
S106

 (0.6)  There has been some slippage on 
the scheme due to various site 
issues related to utilities causing 
delays to works. Works are now 
nearing completion, with Severn 
Trent Water soon to undertake 
diversion works which enables the 
DLO to complete the scheme

Warwick Station 
Access

 (0.3)  Expenditure on Warwick Road 
Access Tunnel has slipped due to 
programme delays. This was caused 
primarily by unforeseen utilities, 
alongside issues encountered with 
the piling sub-contractor which meant 
that a decision was taken to omit 
further piling and excavation works 
and ringfence the resources for these 
works to be undertaken as part of the 
wider Station Masterplan 
development when the tunnel will be 
brought into use.

Nuckle  0.0 (0.3) A final reivew of NUCKLE 1.1 
financial accounts has recognised a 
small underspend on phase 1 of the 
project, mainly due to Network Rail 
revising their pricing schedule.   
Some of this will be used to fund the 
reduced funding of ERDF £175k and 
the balance will be set aside towards 
Phase 2.

GD14 - A46 N-S 
Corridor 
(Stanks)

 0.2  The CWLEP Programme Board have 
asked us to accelerate spend on 
projects where possible. The project 
identified utilities spend that could be 
accelerated and spend increased into 
16/17.

GD17 - National 
Transport 
Design Centre

 (0.7)  Delay in construction start date due 
to bad weather has resulted in 
rescheduling of £0.7m, which 
CWLEP board have approved. 
Scheme still remains within 
acceptable timescales.

GD22 - Warks 
College STEM

 0.2  The CWLEP Programme Board have 
asked us to accelerate spend on 
projects where possible. The project 
identified spend that could be 
accelerated and spend increased into 
16/17.

Page 40



25

A46 Link Road 
Phase 2

 (0.1)  There has been some slippage on 
expenditure as the DfT have 
confirmed that an Outline Business 
Case isn’t required and the project 
can instead progress to Full Business 
Case which has resulted in a change 
to programme and expenditure 
profile.

Public Realm 4  (0.4)  The slippage reflects changes to the 
Public Realm Phase 4 programme, 
and has no impact on Growth Deal 
grant which needs to be spent by the 
end of 17/18.

Lythalls Lane 
(CIF)

 (0.1)  Funding set aside to refurbish unlet 
Units, if necessary to achieve 
lease/Sale

Vehicle and 
Plant 
Replacement

 (1.6)  Prudential Borrowing - Service 
reviews within Highways, Streetpride 
and Passenger Transport Services 
have meant that the operational life 
of existing vehicles has been 
extended. Within PTS this was due to 
proposals within SEN in the People 
directorate regarding home to school 
transport, and within Streepride and 
Highways, due to service redesign.  
Leasing - Service reviews within 
Streetpride have casued leases for 
vehicles and plant to be extended 
pending service resdeign.  
Additionally a number of vehciles 
were brought out of lease at 
preferentail rates, meaning that we 
can benefit from extending the life of 
unfinanced vehicles.  There are also 
a number of vehicles originally 
located within schools, which have 
become suplus to their requirements 
and the have relocated to other areas 
with short term extensions to their 
lease.

Play Areas  (0.3)  New Century Park spend delayed 
due to elected member involvement 
in wanting to explore links with 
Sphinx Running Club and we await 
further instructions, time delays in 
waiting for quotes, and Project Team 
capacity issue has deffered works 
starting in 16/17.  Where spend was 
delayed due capacity in other teams 
we have met and tried to work out a 
timetable, however both the Public 
Health Project work and the dealing 
with travellers has affected progress. 

Page 41



26

Kickstart Office  (4.5)  As a result of slower than anticipated 
progress on site with the external 
façade, whilst the overall programme 
is maintained, there has been 
slippage in expenditure to these 
elements.  This will be fully utilised in 
the new financial year.

ESIF - Low 
Carbon

 (0.2)  

ESIF - 
Innovation

 (0.1)  

Due to the delay in this project being 
started there was a significant delay 
to the allocation of grant funding to 
businesses.  DCLG invited us to 
submit project change requests to re-
profile spend and outputs which have 
now been approved.  The first Grants 
have now been allocated with the 
first claims now being received. 
Funding to be re-profiled to 17/18

Canley 
Regeneration 
(Prior Deram 
Park)

 (0.1)  Procurement problems with 
replacement street furniture (supplier 
delivery delays) and delay waiting for 
confirmation of approval for elements 
of the work area have delayed the 
works on site. Remaining budget to 
be carried over as remaining planned 
works have been put back due to 
start of new housing development 
adjacent the work area and potential 
for damage newly completed works.

London Road  (0.2)  There is no capital spend on the LRC 
project at present as the spend for 
the development stage is funded 
through revenue (code 10284) – 
therefore all expenditure to date is 
sitting in revenue

Far Gosford St  
Liveability Fund

 (0.1)  The actual costs are attributed to the 
acquisition of property and 
compensation in relation to the Far 
Gosford Street CPO.  Negotiations 
with property owners have been 
concluded which has led to this 
increased expenditure for associated 
CPO cost and compensation in Q3.

FGS CPO's / 
Ringfenced 
Receipts

 0.3  The actual costs are attributed to the 
acquisition of property and 
compensation in relation to the Far 
Gosford Street CPO.  Negotiations 
with property owners have been 
concluded which has led to this 
increased expenditure for associated 
CPO cost and compensation in Q3

Growing Places 
Fund

 (0.5)  Grantee's approval for Infrastructure 
project was delayed so a claim was 
not submitted as planned. Round 2 
Open Call and Round 3 Open Door, 
which are on-gpoing business grants 
have experienced delays from 
businesses in submitting claims, 
spend has been re-profiled into 2017-
18

Page 42



27

City Centre 
Destination 
Leisure Facility

 (0.2)  The variance to the forecast spend 
on the CCDLF scheme was due to 
the demolition element of the project 
coming in under the forecasted 
tender return. In addition a the 
discovery of a small amount of 
Asbestos resulted in a slight delay to 
programme which impacted on the 
project’s cash flow forecast. 

Capital 
Disposals - 
Lease Buy Out 
of Elm Farm

1.3   Cabinet Approved on 24th November 
2015 the freehold disposal of land at 
Elms Farm and surrender the long-
lease hold payment to the tenant on 
condition of a freehold developer 
being secured.  This has now been 
achieved and this is the payment to 
the tenant funded from the capital 
receipt.

Major Projects 
(SWCJIP)

0.2 This overspend is being funded by 
university of Warwick (see 2.3.2 of 
report)

Major Projects 
(incl Friargate 
Bridgedeck, 
Whitley 
Junction)

  1.4 See 2.3.2 of Report

SUB TOTAL - 
Place 
Directorate

1.3 (9.2) 1.3  

RESOURCES 
DIRECTORATE

    

ICT 
Infrastructure 
Operations

 (0.1)  Spend relating to relocation of our 
data centre has had to be postponed 
into 17/18 due to the Ofsted 
inspection. This work was due to take 
place in March, but will now be in 
April.

Kickstart - 
Infrastructure

 (0.2)  The roll out of Mitel has been 
delayed due to technical issues 
earlier in the project. The current 
underspend relates to final payments 
which will not be made until the 
project is completed in May 2017.

Page 43



28

Strategy 
Systems 
Development

 (0.6)  There has been a significant amount 
of work in looking at revenue spend 
within ICT to deliver savings targets 
and planning the work to support the 
ICT strategy. This has meant re-
profiling some of our strategic plans. 
We are also finding that we are being 
able to deliver some more of the 
technical work internally rather than 
rely on external third parties, which 
means the costs are lower. We are 
looking at some significant data 
centre work next year which will 
require spend, hence the 
rescheduling. Also, we had a Digital 
Strategy for the City approved on 
21st February, as a result we will be 
refreshing our ICT strategy during 
2017/18 which will include more 
details about investment profiles 
moving forward.

Kickstart - ICT 
Systems

 (0.6)  The bulk of the rescheduling is a 
result of the HR & Payroll system 
project. This is as a result of some 
significant changes in direction on 
this project and with the supplier. 
Negotiations with the supplier being 
managed at a senior level within the 
organisation (Barry Hastie & Lisa 
Commane). However, this has meant 
that spend has not occurred to profile 
and will therefore need to be 
rescheduled into next year. It is 
hoped that the position on this project 
will become much clearer during 
quarter 1 of 2017/18.

Kickstart - 
Customer 
Journey

 (0.4)  The bulk of the rescheduling is a 
result of various elements of spend 
and project implementations coming 
to an end and coming in below the 
anticipated value. During quarter 1 of 
2017/18 there we will review the 
project profiles and, in line with our 
new reporting arrangements for the 
capital programme, review the 
funding profile.

SUB TOTAL - 
Resources 
Directorate

0.0 (1.9) 0.0  

TOTAL 
RESCHEDULIN
G

1.3 (12.6) 1.3  

Page 44



29

 

Appendix 3
Summary Prudential Indicators Per Treasury 

Management 
Strategy Actual

 16/17 16/17
£000's £000's

1 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream:
(a) General Fund financing costs 32,742 30,561
(b) General Fund net revenue stream 233,381 233,381
General Fund Percentage 14.03% 13.09%

2 Gross Debt & Forecast Capital Financing Requirement
Gross debt including PFI liabilities 429,600 357,137
Capital Financing Requirement  (forecast end of 18/19) 452,714 479,713

Gross Debt to Net Debt:
Gross debt including PFI liabilities 429,600 357,137
less investments -48,444 -137,170
less transferred debt reimbursed by others -15,438 -15,437
Net Debt 365,718 204,530

3 Capital Expenditure  (Note this excludes leasing)
General Fund 107,778 71,002

4 Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
Capital Financing Requirement 452,714 380,813
Capital Financing Requirement excluding transferred debt 437,277 365,376

5 Authorised limit for external debt
Authorised limit for borrowing 404,411 404,411
+ authorised limit for other long term liabilities 72,865 72,865
= authorised limit for debt 477,277 477,277

6 Operational boundary for external debt
Operational boundary for borrowing 364,411 364,411
+ Operational boundary for other long term liabilities 72,865 72,865
= Operational boundary for external debt 437,277 437,277

7 Actual external debt
actual borrowing at 31 March 2017 280,903
+ PFI & Finance Leasing liabilities at 31 March 2017 72,801
+ transferred debt liabilities at 31 March 2017 15,437
= actual gross external debt at 31 March 2017 369,141

8 Interest rate exposures
Upper Limit for Fixed Rate Exposures 391,297 211,312

Page 45



30

Variable Rate
Upper Limit for Variable Rate Exposures 78,259 -67,579

9 Maturity structure of borrowing -  limits upper limit actual
under 12 months 40% 13.2%
12 months to within 24 months 20% 2.6%
24 months to within 5 years 30% 12.2%
5 years to within 10 years 30% 7.7%
10 years & above 100% 64.3%

10 Investments longer than 364 days: upper limit 30,000 5,525

Page 46



 Public report
Cabinet 

A separate report is submitted in the private part of the agenda in respect of this item, as 
it contains details of financial information required to be kept private in accordance with 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  The grounds for privacy are that it 
refers to the identity, financial and business affairs of an organisation and the amount of 
expenditure proposed to be incurred by the Council under a particular contract for the 
supply of goods or services.  The public interest in maintaining the exemption under 
Schedule 12A outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Cabinet  13th June 2017 
Council 11th July 2017

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration - Councillor J O’Boyle

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
Henley

Title:
Unit 1 Dutton Road, Aldermans Green Industrial Estate, Coventry – Investment Acquisition. 

Is this a key decision?  No

Executive Summary:

This report is seeking approval for the acquisition of an income producing industrial property 
investment.

The investment currently produces an income the level of which is commercially sensitive and is 
therefore outlined in the private report. 

Personal Hygiene Services Limited (“PHS”) is part of a national company with a turnover of 
£280M in 2015/16 who occupies the premises and pays the rent. They have approximately 7 
years left on their current lease. 

The Council already owns the land upon which the building is constructed but granted a lease 
dated 13th September 1989 for a term of 99 years with effect from 20th May 1989 in respect of the 
industrial site at Dutton Road Aldermans Green Industrial Estate Coventry. The long leasehold 
interest, which receives the rent from PHS, is currently owned by Real Estate Investors PLC 
(REI). REI currently pays the Council an annual ground rent for the land, the level of which is 
outlined in your private report.

Real Estate Investors have indicated a willingness to sell its leasehold interest to the Council, 
subject to the existing lease to PHS and therefore the right to receive the annual rent for a 
negotiated price. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



2

Stamp Duty land Tax will be payable by the Council in addition to the purchase price, the level of 
which is outlined in the private report. 

The initial net return on the investment is assessed at circa 8.8% after assumed purchasing 
costs. This is reduced to a return of 8.0% based on the net rental increase for the Council as it 
already receives a ground rent from the property. 

The level of return generated is based on the level of risk associated with the length of lease and 
the security of the income. The negotiated price has been validated by external property experts 
as providing ‘best value’ for the Council. 

It is intended that the property would be held by the Council as an investment asset and 
managed by the Council’s Commercial Property Management.  

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the terms for the acquisition of the leasehold interest in 1 Dutton Road subject to 
the current tenancy for the price outlined in the private report plus Stamp Duty Land Tax. 

 
2. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) (Legal Services) to complete the 

necessary legal documentation.

3. Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Jobs and Regeneration, for any subsequent variation in terms.

4. Request that Council approve the adjustment of the capital programme to reflect the capital 
expenditure.

Council is recommended to:

1. Adjust the Capital programme for the proposed capital expenditure incurred in the 
acquisition of the long leasehold interest in Unit 1 Dutton Road. 

List of Appendices included:

Site plan 

Other useful background papers:
None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?
No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?
No

Will this report go to Council?
Yes – 11th July 2017

Page 48



Report title: Unit 1 Dutton Road Aldermans Green Industrial Estate – Investment Acquisition.

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Council is currently looking at ways of increasing revenue income to support the 
provision of services it is seeking to deliver.
 

1.2 An opportunity has been presented to the Council to acquire an income producing property 
investment within one of the City’s established industrial estates, Aldermans Green. 

1.3 The Council currently owns the freehold of the majority of the industrial estate but has 
disposed of parts on long leases. The land at 1 Dutton Road is where the Council granted a 
lease for a term of 99 years effective from 20th May 1989. This lease facilitated the 
construction of the current industrial building. The Council currently receives a ground rent 
the details of which are outlined in the private report. 

1.4 The opportunity is for the Council to acquire the long leasehold interest from its tenant, 
Real Estate Investors Plc which includes the occupied property, which produces an annual 
rent. 

1.5 The industrial building on the site extends to 14,789 sqft (1,374 sqm). PHS Limited have a 
lease to occupy the building which continues until July 2024, approximately 7 years 
remaining. The rent payable by PHS to occupy the property is outlined in the private report. 

 
1.6 The tenant PHS is a national business providing a range of cleaning, hygiene and waste 

management services for commercial clients.

1.7  The company accounts of PHS shows a group of business’ which produces an annual 
turnover of £280 Million. The most recent accounts (2015/16) show the company making a 
healthy profit, the accounts for 2106/17 are not yet available. 

2. Options and recommended proposal

2.1 The opportunity presented to the Council is to acquire the long leasehold interest under the 
lease dated 13th September 1989 and in turn the right to receive the occupational rent 
generated by the underlease to PHS. 

2.2 Based on the purchasing cost outlined in the finance section of your report the anticipated 
return generated on the investment proposed would produce a return on the capital 
employed of circa 8.0%. 

2.3 The price proposed to purchase the leasehold interest and the level of return anticipated 
has been valued by the Council’s independent property agents, Lambert Smith Hampton. 
They have confirmed that the price represents open market value and best value both from 
the Council as freeholder and long leaseholder having special purchaser benefits in 
merging their interests.  

2.4 If the Council didn’t proceed with the purchase of the leasehold interest the Council would 
continue to receive the current ground lease from REI Limited.. The ground rent under the 
lease dated 13th September 1989 is due for review with effect from 20th May 2017. 

Page 49



4

2.5 Issues

2.5.1 The underlease to the current tenant PHS runs until 2024 at which time they have the 
option to request a new lease or to vacate the property. The current tenant has made 
significant investment in the property and has large expensive cleaning machinery in the 
premises. It is believed that this indicates a current intention to remain in the building. A 
business decision around their longer term occupation beyond the existing lease term will 
not be made for some years.

2.5.2 The property proposed to be acquired has had a building survey carried out and is reported 
to be generally in a good condition. Due to the historic mining which has taken place in the 
area, it has been suggested that further surveys be carried out to ensure that the building is 
not affected by these issues. Any acquisition will be subject to the survey findings.

2.5.3 The basic configuration and layout of the property, its size and the height of the eaves of 
the property along with is access doors will provide a good flexible industrial property 
suitable for a variety of tenants. The current estate is currently well occupied and this 
coupled with the quality of the property provides strong optimism that the property would 
readily re-let.

2.5.4 In 7 years’ time the strength of the current industrial market may have changed and be 
weaker in terms of tenant demand. This risk is however reflected in the investment yield / 
return on the capital employed to purchase the property. 

2.5.5 Risks associated with investing in commercial property are being mitigated because the 
fundamentals of the building proposed to be acquired are sound in terms of a popular 
business location, the quality and flexibility of the accommodation along with a lease to a 
strong national business. 

2.5.6 The return is substantially higher than that which placing the money on deposit would 
achieve because there is a pricing of the risk factored in. 

2.5.7 Acquiring the leasehold interest pursuant to the head lease dated 13th September 1989  not 
only provides the Council as landowner with greater income but also the potential added 
flexibility if required in the future, if it were to become commercially advantageous to 
combine adjoining land holdings for expansion or redevelopment.

2.6 Recommendation – To proceed with the purchase of the industrial investment. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

No public consultation has been undertaken  

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 Subject to Cabinet and Councils approval it is anticipated that the acquisition of the 
leasehold interest would be completed within 28 days of the decision. 

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and Corporate Services

5.1 Financial implications

The financial implication of the proposed acquisition are outlined in your private report

Page 50



5

5.2 Legal implications 

The Council’s appointed external agents, Lambert Smith Hampton have verified that the 
terms of the acquisition specified in this report represent best value and in turn satisfy the 
requirements under Section 123 Local Government Act 1972 

Officers within Legal Service (Place Directorate) will agree and complete the legal 
documentation effecting the acquisition of the leasehold interest 

6. Other implications 

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council Plan

The purchase of the leasehold interest and the net financial income benefits that flow from 
it will contribute to the Council Plan of making the most of our assets to deliver priorities 
with fewer resources.  

 
6.2 How is risk being managed?

The risks have been identified as ensuring that the proposed benefits of the development 
scheme are realised. These are being managed through the independent assessment of 
the risk and return proposed including considering the strength of the business occupying 
the property and ability for them to pay the rent and through the lease terms protect the 
condition of the property during and at the end of the current lease. 

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

The impact to the organisation will be minimal however it will generate additional work for 
officers within Place Directorate in dealing with the acquisition of the leasehold interest.

The acquisition of the long leasehold interest will merge with the Council’s existing freehold 
interest and provide the Council with additional income producing commercial investment 
asset on an established industrial estate. 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken as the proposal concerns the 
disposal of land for redevelopment as no Council service or group will be impacted.
 
An equality impact assessment is a process designed to ensure that a policy project or 
service does not discriminate against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people. Section 149 
of the Equality Act 2010 imposes an obligation on Local Authorities to carry out an equality 
impact assessment when the local authority is exercising a public function.

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken by officers as the proposal set out 
in this report relates to the acquisition of a legal interest in the land and does not constitute 
a change in service delivery policy or the exercise of a public function.

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

The Council’s acquisition of the leasehold interest in the commercial industrial property 
proposed will have no additional implication or impact on the environment

Page 51



6

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

There are no implications for any partner organisations.

Report author(s): 

Name and job title:
Paul Beesley, Manager Property Development, Disposal & Acquisitions

Directorate:
Place Directorate 

Tel and email contact:
024 7683 1377 paul.beesley@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person(s).

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Lara Knight Governance 

Services Co-
ordinator

Place 19/5/17 22/5/17

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members)
Finance: Phil Helm Finance 

Manager
Place 08/05/17 19/05/17

Legal: Julie Sprayson Property 
Lawyer

Place 08/05/17 11/05/17

Property: Richard Moon Assistant 
Director 
Project 
Management 
and Property 
Services 

Place 17/05/17 17/05/17

Director: Martin Yardley Deputy CEO Place 30/05/17 30/05/17
Members: Cllr Jim’O’Boyle Cabinet 

Member for 
Jobs and 
Regeneration 

30/05/17 30/05/17

This report is published on the council's website:
www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 52

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


7

Appendix 1

Location Plan

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Report

Cabinet 13th June 2017

Name of Cabinet Member:
Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership – Councillor G Duggins

Director approving submission of the report:
Deputy Chief Executive (Place)

Ward(s) affected:
N/A

Title:
Outstanding Issues

Is this a key decision?
No

Executive summary:

This report is to identify those issues on which further reports have been requested or are 
outstanding so that Members are aware of them and can monitor their progress.

Recommendations:

The Cabinet are recommended to consider the list of outstanding items as set out below, and to 
ask the Member of the Management Board concerned to explain the current position on those 
which should have been discharged at this meeting or an earlier meeting.

List of Appendices included:

Table of outstanding issues

Other useful background papers:

None 

Has it or will it be considered by scrutiny?

N/A

Has it, or will it be considered by any other council committee, advisory panel or other 
body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Report title:
Outstanding Issues

1. Context (or background)

1.1 In May 2004, the City Council adopted an Outstanding Minutes system, linked to the 
Forward Plan, to ensure that follow-up reports can be monitored and reported to Members.

1.2 The Table appended to the report outlines items where a report back has been requested 
to a future Cabinet meeting, along with the anticipated date for further consideration of the 
issue.

1.3 Where a request has been made to delay the consideration of the report back, the 
proposed revised date is identified, along with the reason for the request.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 N/A

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 N/A 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 

4.1 N/A

5. Comments from Executive Director of Resources

5.1 Financial implications

N/A

5.2 Legal implications

N/A

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Coventry 
Sustainable Communities Strategy?

N/A

6.2 How is risk being managed?

This report will be considered and monitored at each meeting of the Cabinet

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

N/A 

Page 56



6.4 Equalities / EIA 

N/A 

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

N/A

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

N/A 

Report author(s):

Name and job title:
Lara Knight
Governance Services Co-ordinator

Directorate:
Place 

Tel and email contact:
E-mail: Lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk
Tel: 024 7683 3237

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:

Names of approvers: 
(officers and Members)
 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/moderngov 

Page 57

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/moderngov
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/moderngov


Appendix 1

Subject Minute Reference 
and Date Originally 
Considered

Date For Further 
Consideration 

Responsible Officer Proposed 
Amendment to 
Date For 
Consideration

Reason for Request 
To Delay 
Submission Of 
Report

1.  101. Coventry Station Masterplan 
Update 

Report on proposed constructor 
contract appointments

Minute 101/16

24th January 2017

To be confirmed Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place)

Colin Knight

2.102. Friargate Update Report 

Further report on Council 
buildings to be retained, 
investment to maintain them in 
use for operational purposes 
and any other mitigation 
measures.

Minute 105/16

24th January 2017

To be confirmed Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place)

David Cockroft

* identifies items where a report is on the agenda for your meeting.

P
age 58



Document is Restricted

Page 59

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Revenue and Capital Outturn 2016/17
	6 Unit 1 Dutton Road, Aldermans Green Industrial Estate, Coventry - Investment Acquisition
	7 Outstanding Issues
	9 Unit 1 Dutton Road, Aldermans Green Industrial Estate, Coventry - Investment Acquisition

